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Abe Fortas of Memphis ~ Rabbi Max Samfield . . by Dr. Seima Lewis
by Dr. Berkiey Kalin Spiritual Leader - Community Leader
Abe Fortas is This is the fifth in a series of biographical sketches of Jewish community leaders
L included in our forthcoming book, *Chronicles of the Jewish Community of Memphis.*
a rarity: afamous
Memphian Who  when Rabbi Max Samfield's funeral
b i M, Was held on October 1, 1915, much of
ﬁfn . Eaﬂ the entire city of Memphis paused to
g e Elvis P2 its final respects. For ten minutes
R P::snllgf WVCI:S during the services at the Poplar Ave-
Handy and Ida nue Temple practically every business

| | Wells,tonamea

few examples,

were not. And
yet this Memphian who rose to the high-
est appointive office in the land, is per-
hapsthe least appreciated famous Mid-
Southemer. Infact, Memphis Jews know
more of the other Jewish Justices than
ihey know of their native sonwho heida
position on the same level as the Presi-
dent of the United States. Abe Fortas’
influences on American law and public
policy over a half century are of incalcu-
lable significance. Ironically he is re-
membered (to use the words of biogra-
pher Laura Kalman) as the “first Su-
preme Court justice to resign under a
cloud.”

Scholarly monographs such as Bruce
A. Murphy’s Fortas: the rise and ruin of
a Supreme Court Justice and Laura
Kalman’s Abe Fortas: a biography have
failed to fathom the idealistic streak which
drove the “inner Fortas”. In his corre-
spondence with Memphis entrepreneur
and philanthropist Hardwig Peres (whom
Kalman incorrectly titles “Rabbi"” Peres),
young Abe reveals some of the inner
tensions which tear at his psyche. This
fascinating set of twenty-five Fortas let-
ters, held in the Special Collections of
Brister Library, Memphis State Univer-
sity, have never been utilized by any
Fortas biographer.

Abe Fortas was the first recipient of
the Israel Peres scholarship to South-

western in Memphis. In aletter to Hard-
continued on page 4

Dr. Berkley Kalin

house in the city was closed. At ten
o'clock sharp The Memphis Street Car
Company shut off its power, and every
street car in the city came to a halt for a
minute. No traffic was allowed to pass
within several blocks of the temple. It
was reported that one of the largest
groups ever assembled in Memphis
attended the funeral services, overflow-
ing the building and crowded outside
into the streets, At the expressed wish
of Rabbi Samfield, there were no flow-
ers, he and his family requested favor of
charitable donations be sent instead.

The unusual tributes he received testify
to the wide influence Rabbi Samfield
had in the city, as well as the regard in
which he was held by many diverse
groups and individuals. He had come
to Memphis in 1871 to succeed Rabbi
Simon Tuska as the spiritual leader of
Temple Israel and he had requested
that he be appointed Rabbi Emeritus,
which was scheduled to occur on the
very day he died.

Samfield was bom in 1844 in Markgrett,
Bavaria, where his education included
both Jewish religious studies and secu-
lar learning. He was ordained when he
completed his work at the Julius Univer-
sity in Duerzburg. In 1867, he went to
Beth Zion congregation in Shreveport,
Louisiana, where he remained until he
came to Memphis on August 18, 1871.

During his tenure as rabbi of Con-
gregation B’'Nai Israel Memphis endured
the Yellow Fever epidemics, which cre-
ated great hardships for the city and for

Rabbi Max Samfield

the congregation. For a short period
they were unable to pay the rabbi's
salary.

While many people fled the city in
1878-9, Rabbi Samfield remained, to
serve the poor and sick, regardless of
their race or creed. The Memphis Ap-
peal in an 1878 article, described a
burial of Jewish victims of the fever that
took place at the Bass Avenue ceme-
tery: “The epidemic which for the past
three weeks has been raging in our
midst has been noticeably felt among
the Israelites of our city. Many of their
families have been visited by the scourge,
and their sorrow is great. Last evening
amost solemn scene was witnessed at
their burial ground on Bass Avenue. It
was the occasion of the burial of three of
their faith, citizens of our once happy
city, Mr. A. Johl, his son, and Simon
Loeb. All these had died of the yellow
fever yesterday morning, but, it being

the Jewish Sabbath, they were not in-
continued on page 7
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PresidenftsMessage . . . . . .

The rewards of community work are
intrinsic, the primary reward being the
satisfaction of working for a cause in
which one believes. The ideals of this
organization are noble and in keeping
with our tradition as a people who have
recorded history and gleaned meaning
from the multiplicity of stories gathered.
The society has drawn together Mem-
phians and mid-Southerners of all ages and perspectives.
Our younger historians approach our recent history muchin
the same way as they approach more distant history—-as
events which relate to them in a peripheral way. The older
students of our history bring to the study and share with us a
perspective which has benefitted from sifting and sorting.
Those in the middle of the spectrum greet history with the
wide-eyed enthusiasm of newcomers to an aged tradition.
History is becoming real, a living enterprise. They can begin
to see a larger picture and the relationship of the parts.

Among the rewards of my two years at the helm of the
organization are the new friendships formed and old friend-
ships solidified. | would like to thank especially my two
predecessors, Harriet Stern and Leonid Saharavicci, for
support, friendship, patience, enthusiasm, and guidance. A
special thanks also goes to our editor, David Schneider, who
tirelessly scavenges for news and views, arranges his mate-
rial artfully, and sends this newsletter out to all of us in timely
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our general membership. m

Welcome To Our New Members
Mr. Joe Magdovitz

Mrs. Rose Burson

sequence.

| greatly appreciate the willingness of all the

Mr. Julius Herscovici
Judge & Mrs. Bernie Weinman

Mrs. Joseph Rothschild

Vicksburg

The Jewish Community at 150 Years
by Julius Herscovici

On the twenty-ninth of January, 1825,
the Walnut Hills settlement was incor-
porated under the name of Vicksburg.
At the time of incorporation, the city of
Vicksburg had a population of about
three thousand people, of which about
twenty families were jewish. The Jewish
presence in Vicksburg can be traced
back as early as 1815. Virtually all Jewish
settlers living in Vicksburg came from
Bavaria, Alsace-Lorraine and other
German lands. The German roots were
meaningless at this point in time, but
played a pivotal role in a decision made
many years later.

Between 1820-1840 the Jewish
population in Vicksburg stayed at the
same level. The 20-30 families who
lived in Vicksburg kept kosher, and a
shochet provided kosher meat. Relig-
ious observances were kept in accor-
dance with orthodox customs and regu-
lar Sabbath and Festival services were
conducted in private homes. In 1841
the Jewish community decided to es-

tablish a congregation and the found-
ing members choose the name: “He-
brew Benevolent Congregation of the
Man of Mercy”.

From 1845 to 1865 a second wave of
Jewishimmigrants settled in Vicksburg.
In addition to German Jews, a larger
number came from Russia and Poland.
On the first of March, 1862, the existing
Jewish congregation was formally in-
corporated in the State of Mississippi,
under the name: “Anshe Chesed Con-
gregation”. The Hebrew name was the
exacttranslation ofthe name chosen by
its founders back in 1841.

Henry B. Godthelf became the con-
gregations first full time Rabbi in 1866.
Rabbi Godthelf was a native of Ger-
many. This was significant as it re-
vealed the social and power structure of
the community, as well as showing the
community’s philosophy of life. In 1868,
the ground was broken for the building
of the first synagogue in Vicksburg and
the formal dedication took place on Fri-
day, May 20th, 1870, at 2 P.M.

In 1873 a crucial decision was made,
adecisionthat was to shape the life and

destiny of allthe Jews living inVicksburg
andthe surrounding communities. This
historical decision was to join the “Un-
ion of American Hebrew Congregations”;
better known as Reform Judaism. On
April 25, 1974, the “Anshe Chesed
Congregation” was officially admitted
into the Reform Movement as the twenty-
fifth congregation with the status of a
founding congregation. Every time |
think about this decision, in my mind
pops up Robert Frost's lines":

*| shell be telling this with a sith

Somewhere ages and ages hence

Two roads diverged in a wood, and |
| took the one less fraveled by,

And that has made all the difference.”

Not all the members of the congre-
gation were happy with the decision to
abandon traditional Judaism. The
numbers of those dedicated to follow
the orthodox path increased at the turn
of the century with the arrival of a third
wave of immigrants who came mainly
from Eastern europe and Russia. The
newcomers and members of the old
congregation decided in 1900 to form
an orthodox congregation. On Sep-

continued on page 7






















